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UNITED STATES
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☒

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
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Or
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to
such filing requirements for at least the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule
405 of Regulation S-T (232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to

submit such files).

Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company.
See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of
the Exchange Act. (Check one):
Large accelerated filer

☒

Accelerated filer

☐

Non-accelerated filer

☐

Smaller reporting company

☐

Emerging growth company

☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with
any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule12b-2). Yes ☐ No ☒
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NEW YORK REIT, INC.
FORM 10-Q SEPTEMBER 30, 2018
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET ASSETS
(Liquidation Basis)
(Unaudited, in thousands)

Assets
Investments in real estate
Investment in unconsolidated joint venture
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash held in escrow
Accounts receivable
Total Assets
Liabilities
Mortgage notes payable
Liability for estimated costs in excess of estimated receipts during liquidation
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Related party fees payable
Total Liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies
Net assets in liquidation

September 30, 2018

December 31, 2017

$

$

41,000
268,039
31,296
93,435
2,196
435,966
—
462
8,117
—
8,579

$

427,387

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
3

488,616
257,634
241,019
99,768
3,696
1,090,733
215,494
27,228
14,881
17
257,620

$

833,113
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NEW YORK REIT, INC.
FORM 10-Q SEPTEMBER 30, 2018
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
(Liquidation Basis)
(Unaudited, in thousands)
Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017 September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017

Net assets in liquidation, beginning of period
Changes in net assets in liquidation
Changes in liquidation value of investments in real estate
Changes in liquidation value of investment in unconsolidated
joint venture
Remeasurement of assets and liabilities
Remeasurement of non-controlling interest
Net changes in liquidation value
Liquidating distributions to common stockholders
Changes in net assets in liquidation
Net assets in liquidation, end of period

$

$

421,358 $

1,547,052 $

833,113 $

—

(142,230)

(9,000)

(144,730)

5,076
953
—
6,029
—
6,029
427,387 $

—
(74,029)
827
(215,432)
—
(215,432)
1,331,620 $

16,938
3,634
—
11,572
(417,298)
(405,726)
427,387 $

—
(77,283)
707
(221,306)
—
(221,306)
1,331,620

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
4

1,552,926
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NEW YORK REIT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018
(unaudited)
Note 1 — Organization
New York REIT, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on October 6, 2009 as a Maryland corporation that qualified as a real estate
investment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes (“REIT”) beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 2010. On April 15, 2014, the
Company listed its common stock on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “NYRT.” In October 2018, the Company
announced the withdrawal of its common stock from listing on the NYSE in connection with the conversion of the Company from a Maryland
corporation to a Delaware limited liability company to be known as New York REIT Liquidating LLC (the “LLC”). November 2, 2018 will be the last
day on which shares of the Company’s common stock are traded on the NYSE and the Company’s stock transfer books will be closed as of such
date. The conversion of the Company to the LLC is expected to become effective November 7, 2018. See Note 2 for further details.
Substantially all of the Company’s business is conducted through its operating partnership, New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P.,
a Delaware limited partnership (the “OP”). The Company’s only significant asset is the general partnership interests it owns in the OP and assets
held by the Company for the use and benefit of the OP.
On August 22, 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved a plan of liquidation to sell in an orderly manner all or
substantially all of the assets of the Company and its OP and to liquidate and dissolve the Company and the OP (the “Liquidation Plan”), subject
to stockholder approval. The Liquidation Plan was approved at a special meeting of stockholders on January 3, 2017.
As of September 30, 2018, the Company owned two investments, the Viceroy Hotel and the Company’s equity interest in WWP Holdings,
LLC (Worldwide Plaza). The Company’s share of Worldwide Plaza has an aggregate of 1.1 million rentable square feet, with an average occupancy
of 98.2%. At September 30, 2018, office, hotel and retail space represent 78%, 17% and 5%, respectively, of rentable square feet including
Worldwide Plaza. The Viceroy Hotel was sold on October 4, 2018. Details of the sale are included in Note 6.
The Company has no employees. Prior to March 8, 2017, the Company retained (i) New York Recovery Advisors, LLC (the “Former
Advisor”) to manage its affairs on a day-to-day basis and (ii) New York Recovery Properties, LLC (the “ARG Property Manager”) to serve as the
Company’s property manager, unless services were performed by a third party for specific properties. The Former Advisor and ARG Property
Manager are under common control with AR Global Investments, LLC (the successor business to AR Capital, LLC, “AR Global”), (the “Sponsor”).
On March 8, 2017, the Company transferred all advisory duties from the Former Advisor to Winthrop REIT Advisors, LLC (the “Winthrop
Advisor”) and property management services with respect to properties managed by ARG Property Manager were transferred to Winthrop
Management, L.P. (the “Winthrop Property Manager”).
In March 2018 the Company effected a 1-for-10 reverse stock split (the “Reverse Split”) of its common stock (“Common Shares”) pursuant to
which each of ten Common Shares issued and outstanding as of the close of market on March 15, 2018 were automatically combined into one
Common Share, subject to the elimination of fractional shares. All references to Common Shares outstanding and per Common Share amounts have
been restated to reflect the effect of the Reverse Split for all periods presented.
Any fractional shares resulting from the Reverse Split have been redeemed for cash in lieu of shares.
Note 2 — Liquidation Plan
The Liquidation Plan, as amended by the Board in accordance with the terms of the Liquidation Plan, provides for an orderly sale of the
Company’s assets, payment of the Company’s liabilities and other obligations and the winding down of operations and final dissolution of the
Company. The Company is no longer permitted to make any new investments other than to make protective acquisitions or advances with respect
to its existing assets. The Company is permitted to satisfy any existing contractual obligations and fund required tenant improvements and capital
expenditures at its real estate properties, including real estate properties owned by joint ventures in which the Company owns an interest.
5
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NEW YORK REIT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018
(unaudited)
The Liquidation Plan enables the Company to sell any and all of its assets without further approval of the stockholders and provides that
liquidating distributions be made to the stockholders as determined by the Board. Pursuant to applicable REIT rules, the Company must complete
the disposition of its assets by January 3, 2019, two years after the date the Liquidation Plan was approved by the stockholders, in order to deduct
liquidating distributions as dividends. As all of the Company’s assets will not be sold by such date, the Company will satisfy the requirement by
converting the Company from a Maryland corporation to the LLC which is expected to occur on November 7, 2018. The conversion was approved
at a special meeting of stockholders on Friday, September 7, 2018. In connection with the conversion to the LLC, the Company’s shares of common
stock will be withdrawn from trading on the NYSE. The last day of trading of the Company’s common stock will be November 2, 2018.
At the effective time of the conversion, each outstanding share of common stock will be converted into one unit of common membership
interest in the LLC (a “unit”) and holders of the Company’s common stock will automatically receive one unit (which unit will be in book entry
form) for each share of the Company’s common stock held by such stockholder. Holders of shares of the Company’s common stock should note
that unlike shares of the Company’s common stock, which in addition to being listed on the NYSE, are freely transferable, units will not be listed
for trading and generally will not be transferable except by will intestate succession or operation of law. Therefore, the recipients of units in the
LLC will not have the ability to realize any value from these interests except from distributions made by the LLC, the timing of which will be solely
in the discretion of the board of managers of the LLC (the “Board of Managers”).
The business of the LLC will be the same as the business of the Company immediately preceding the conversion, which will, consistent with
the Liquidation Plan, consist of the continued ownership of the Company’s interest in Worldwide Plaza, the Company’s only remaining propertyrelated asset. Under its operating agreement, the business and affairs of the LLC will be managed by or under the direction of its Board of
Managers, and the LLC’s sole purpose is winding up the affairs of the LLC and liquidation of its remaining assets. The LLC will remain in existence
until the earlier of (i) the distribution of all its assets pursuant to liquidation or (ii) four years from the effective time of the conversion. The LLC’s
term may be extended to such later date as the Board of Managers determines is reasonably necessary to fulfill the purposes of the LLC.
The dissolution process and the amount and timing of distributions to stockholders involves risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, it is not
possible to predict the timing or aggregate amount which will be ultimately distributed to stockholders and no assurance can be given that the
distributions will equal or exceed the estimate of net assets presented in the Consolidated Statements of Net Assets.
The Company expects to continue to qualify as a REIT throughout the liquidation until such time as the Company converts to the LLC.
6
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NEW YORK REIT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018
(unaudited)
Note 3 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Liquidation Basis of Accounting
As a result of the approval of the Liquidation Plan by the stockholders, the Company adopted the liquidation basis of accounting as of
January 1, 2017 and for the periods subsequent to December 31, 2016 in accordance with GAAP. Accordingly, on January 1, 2017, the carrying
value of the Company’s assets were adjusted to their liquidation value, which represents the estimated amount of cash that the Company will
collect on disposal of assets as it carries out its liquidation activities under the Liquidation Plan. The current estimate of net assets in liquidation
has been calculated based on undiscounted cash flow projections. The actual timing of the sale of the Company’s remaining interest in Worldwide
Plaza has not yet been determined and is subject to future events and uncertainties. These estimates are subject to change based on the actual
timing of future asset sales.
The liquidation value of the Company’s investments in real estate is based on expected sales proceeds presented on an undiscounted basis.
Estimated costs to dispose of assets have been presented separately from the related assets. Liabilities are carried at their contractual amounts due
as adjusted for the timing and other assumptions related to the liquidation process.
The Company accrues costs and revenues that it expects to incur and earn as it carries out its liquidation activities through the end of the
projected liquidation period to the extent it has a reasonable basis for estimation. Estimated costs expected to be incurred through the end of the
liquidation period include budgeted property expenses and corporate overhead, costs to dispose of the properties, mortgage interest expense,
costs associated with satisfying known and contingent liabilities and other costs associated with the winding down and dissolution of the
Company. Revenues are based on in-place leases plus management’s estimates of revenue upon re-lease based on current market assumptions.
These amounts are classified as a liability for estimated costs in excess of estimated receipts during liquidation on the Consolidated Statements of
Net Assets. Actual costs and revenues may differ from amounts reflected in the consolidated financial statements due to the inherent uncertainty
in estimating future events. These differences may be material. See Note 4 for further discussion. Actual costs incurred but unpaid as of
September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 are included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on the Consolidated Statements
of Net Assets.
As a result of the change to the liquidation basis of accounting, the Company no longer presents a Consolidated Balance Sheet, a
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss), a Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity or a Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows.
Use of Estimates
Certain of the Company’s accounting estimates are particularly important for an understanding of the Company’s financial position and
results of operations and require the application of significant judgment by management. As a result, these estimates are subject to a degree of
uncertainty. The Company is required to estimate all costs and revenue it expects to incur and earn through the end of liquidation including the
estimated amount of cash it expects to collect on the disposal of its assets and the estimated costs to dispose of its assets. All of the estimates and
evaluations are susceptible to change and actual results could differ materially from the estimates and evaluations.
7
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NEW YORK REIT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018
(unaudited)
Revenue Recognition
Under liquidation basis of accounting, the Company has accrued all revenue that it expects to earn through the end of liquidation to the
extent it has a reasonable basis for estimation. Revenues are accrued based on contractual amounts due under the leases in place over the
estimated hold period of each asset. These amounts are classified within liability for estimated costs in excess of estimated receipts during
liquidation on the Consolidated Statement of Net Assets.
In accordance with liquidation accounting, as of January 1, 2017, tenant and other receivables were adjusted to their net realizable values.
Management continually reviews tenant and other receivables to determine collectability. Any changes in the collectability of the receivables is
reflected in the net realizable value of the receivable.
The Company owns certain properties with leases that include provisions for the tenant to pay contingent rental income based on a percent
of the tenant’s sales upon the achievement of certain sales thresholds or other targets which may be monthly, quarterly or annual targets.
Contingent rental income is not contemplated under liquidation accounting unless there is a reasonable basis to estimate future receipts.
Investments in Real Estate
As of January 1, 2017, the investments in real estate were adjusted to their estimated net realizable value upon sale, or liquidation value, to
reflect the change to the liquidation basis of accounting. The liquidation value represents the estimated amount of cash the Company expects to
collect on the disposal of its assets as it carries out the liquidation activities of its Liquidation Plan. The liquidation value of the Company’s
investments in real estate are presented on an undiscounted basis. Estimated revenue during the period following the commencement of
liquidation and prior to the expected sale date and costs to dispose of these assets are presented separately from the related assets. Subsequent to
January 1, 2017, all changes in the estimated liquidation value of the investments in real estate are reflected as a change in the Company’s net
assets in liquidation presented on an undiscounted basis.
The liquidation value of investments in real estate was based on a number of factors including discounted cash flow and direct capitalization
analyses, detailed analysis of current market comparables and broker opinions of value, and binding purchase offers to the extent available.
Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Venture
The Company accounts for its investment in unconsolidated joint venture under the equity method of accounting because the Company
exercises significant influence over, but does not control the entity and is not considered to be the primary beneficiary. Under liquidation
accounting, the investment in unconsolidated joint venture is recorded at its net realizable value. The Company evaluates the net realizable value
of its unconsolidated joint venture at each reporting period. Any changes in net realizable value will be reflected as a change in the Company’s net
assets in liquidation. The liquidation value of the Company’s remaining investment in Worldwide Plaza as of September 30, 2018 is based on the
value of the property as a result of the Company’s sale of its 48.7% interest in Worldwide Plaza (See Note 7).
Amortization
Under liquidation accounting, intangible assets and liabilities are included in the liquidation value of investments in real estate and are no
longer amortized.
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash primarily consists of the $90.7 million capital improvement reserve for Worldwide Plaza with the balance representing
maintenance, real estate tax, structural and debt service reserves.
8
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NEW YORK REIT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018
(unaudited)
Recent Accounting Pronouncement
There are no new accounting pronouncements that are applicable or relevant to the Company under the liquidation basis of accounting.
Note 4 — Liability for Estimated Costs in Excess of Estimated Receipts During Liquidation
The liquidation basis of accounting requires the Company to estimate net cash flows from operations and to accrue all costs associated with
implementing and completing the plan of liquidation. The Company currently estimates that it will have costs in excess of estimated receipts during
the liquidation. These amounts can vary significantly due to, among other things, the timing and estimates for executing and renewing leases,
estimates of tenant improvement costs, the timing of property sales, direct costs incurred to complete the sales, the timing and amounts associated
with discharging known and contingent liabilities and the costs associated with the winding down of operations. These costs are estimated and
are anticipated to be paid out over the liquidation period.
The Company accrued the following revenues and expenses expected to be earned or incurred during liquidation (in thousands):
September 30, 2018

Rents and reimbursements
Hotel revenues and reimbursements
Release of liability
Property operating expenses
Hotel operating expense
Interest expense
General and administrative expenses
Capital expenditures
Sales costs
Liability for estimated costs in excess of estimated receipts during
liquidation
9

December 31, 2017

$

— $
1,175
4,199
—
(372)
—
(3,817)
(212)
(1,435)

1,956
11,769
—
1,930
(10,487)
(1,780)
(11,137)
(920)
(18,559)

$

(462) $

(27,228)
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NEW YORK REIT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018
(unaudited)
The change in the liability for estimated costs in excess of estimated receipts during liquidation for the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017 are as follows (in thousands):

Assets:
Estimated net inflows from investments in real estate
Liabilities:
Sales costs
Corporate expenditures
Total liability for estimated costs in excess of estimated receipts
during liquidation
(1)

Total liability for estimated costs in excess of
estimated receipts during liquidation

(2)

$

$

$

3,920

Remeasurement
of Assets and
Liabilities

(3,851) $

(18,559)
(12,589)
(31,148)

16,721
10,262
26,983

(27,228) $

23,132

4,721

September 30, 2018

$

4,790

403
(1,490)
(1,087)
$

3,634

(1,435)
(3,817)
(5,252)
$

(462)

Represents changes in cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses as a result of the Company’s
operating activities for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2018.

Assets:
Estimated net inflows from investments in
real estate
Liabilities:
Sales costs
Corporate expenditures

(1)

January 1, 2018

Net Change
in Working
Capital (1)

January 1, 2017

Net Change
in Working
Capital (1)

Remeasurement
of Assets and
Liabilities

Consolidation (2)

September 30, 2017

$

$ (73,071)

$

$

$

58,303
(69,524)
(67,360)
(136,884)

$

(78,581)

4,708
48,413
53,121
$ (19,950)

(77,736)
3,972
(3,519)
453

$

(77,283)

(1,572)
(57,334)
—
(57,334)

$

(58,906)

(94,076)
(118,178)
(22,466)
(140,644)

$

(234,720)

Represents changes in cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses as a result of the Company’s
operating activity for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2017.
Represents adjustments necessary to reflect the consolidation of Worldwide Plaza (See Note 7).

Note 5 — Net Assets in Liquidation
Net assets in liquidation increased by $6.0 million during the three months ended September 30, 2018 and, as a result of property sales and
corresponding liquidating distributions to holders of the Company’s Common Shares, was reduced by $405.7 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2018. During the three months ended September 30, 2018, there was a $5.1 million increase in the estimated liquidation value of the
Company’s investment in Worldwide Plaza primarily related to its extended estimated hold period and a $0.9 million increase due to the
remeasurement of estimated receipts primarily related to the operations of the Viceroy Hotel.
The reduction during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 is primarily due to liquidating distributions to common stockholders totaling
$417.3 million, a $9.0 million decrease in the estimated liquidation value of the Viceroy Hotel property based on the contract for sale, which was
directly offset by a release of liability of $4.2 million associated with the termination of the Viceroy Hotel management agreement and a $0.5 million
decrease due to a remeasurement of estimated receipts. The reduction in net assets was offset by a net increase of $16.9 million in the estimated
liquidation value of the Company’s investment in Worldwide Plaza primarily related to the extended estimated hold period.
10
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018
(unaudited)
Net assets in liquidation decreased by $215.4 million and $221.3 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017,
respectively. The decrease during the three months ended September 30, 2017 was primarily the result of (i) a $75.5 million net decrease in
liquidation values due to the realized sales of 245-249 West 17th Street (“Twitter”), 218 West 18th Street (“Red Bull”), 229 West 36th Street and 256
West 38th Street and a signed contract for sale for 1440 Broadway, (ii) a $63.7 million net decrease in estimated liquidation values of the remaining
portfolio, (iii) a $75.5 million decrease in the Company’s investment in Worldwide Plaza which includes estimated debt defeasance costs of
$108.3 million, net of mortgage debt premium amortization of $22.0 million and changes in estimated cash flows during the holding period of
$10.8 million, and (iv) a net decrease of $0.7 million due to other cumulative adjustments related to changes in debt costs and adjustments to
estimated holding periods.
The decrease during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was primarily the result of (i) a $78.0 million net decrease in liquidation
values due to the realized sales of 50 Varick Street, 245-249 West 17th Street (Twitter), 218 West 18th Street (Red Bull), 229 West 36th Street and 256
West 38th Street and a signed contract for sale for 1440 Broadway, (ii) a $63.7 million net decrease in estimated liquidation values of the remaining
portfolio, (iii) a $75.5 million decrease in the Company’s investment in Worldwide Plaza which includes estimated debt defeasance costs of
$108.3 million net of mortgage debt premium amortization of $22.0 million and changes in estimated cash flows during the holding period of
$10.8 million and, (iv) a net decrease of $4.1 million due to other cumulative adjustments related to changes in debt costs and adjustments to
estimated holding periods.
The net assets in liquidation at September 30, 2018, presented on an undiscounted basis include the Company’s proportionate share in
Worldwide Plaza’s net assets which include a property value at $1.725 billion based on the Company’s sale of its 48.7% interest in Worldwide
Plaza discussed in Note 7. Future increases in the value of Worldwide Plaza, if any, from the agreed additional capital investment will be reflected in
the Consolidated Statements of Net Assets when such capital investments are made and such increases in fair value can be observed.
There were 16,791,769 Common Shares outstanding at September 30, 2018. The net assets in liquidation as of September 30, 2018, if sold at
their net asset value, would result in liquidating distributions of approximately $25.45 per Common Share. On October 5, 2018, the Company,
following approval of the Board, declared a cash liquidating distribution of $3.25 per Common Share payable on October 22, 2018 to stockholders
of record on October 15, 2018, reducing the estimate of future liquidating distributions to $22.20 per Common Share. The net assets in liquidation
as of September 30, 2018 of $427.4 million, if sold at their net asset value, plus the cumulative liquidating distributions to common stockholders of
$932.8 million ($55.55 per Common Share) paid prior to September 30, 2018, would result in cumulative liquidating distributions to common
stockholders of $81.00 per Common Share. There is inherent uncertainty with these projections, and they could change materially based on the
timing of the sales, the performance of the underlying assets and any changes in the underlying assumptions of the projected cash flows.
Note 6 — Real Estate Investments
2018 Activity
333 West 34th Street – property sale – On January 5, 2018, the Company sold to an independent third party the 333 West 34th Street office
property in Manhattan, New York for a gross sales price of $255.0 million. The property was part of the collateral for the Company’s $760.0 million
POL Loans (defined in Note 8). In connection with the sale, the Company paid down $110.6 million as required under the POL Loans upon the sale
of the property. After satisfaction of debt, pro-rations and closing costs, the Company received net proceeds of approximately $134.6 million. The
estimated liquidation value of the property was $255.0 million at December 31, 2017.
11
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September 30, 2018
(unaudited)
350 West 42nd Street – property sale – On January 10, 2018, the Company sold to an independent third party the 350 West 42nd Street retail
property in Manhattan, New York for a gross sales price of $25.1 million. The property was part of the collateral for the Company’s $760.0 million
POL Loans. In connection with the sale, the Company paid down $11.3 million as required under the POL Loans upon the sale of the property.
After satisfaction of debt, pro-rations and closing costs, the Company received net proceeds of approximately $12.6 million. The estimated
liquidation value of the property was $25.1 million at December 31, 2017.
One Jackson Square – property sale – On February 6, 2018, the Company sold to an independent third party the One Jackson Square retail
property in Manhattan, New York for a gross sales price of $31.0 million. The property was part of the collateral for the Company’s $760.0 million
POL Loans. In connection with the sale, the Company paid down $13.0 million as required under the POL Loans upon the sale of the property.
After satisfaction of debt, pro-rations and closing costs, the Company received net proceeds of approximately $16.5 million. The estimated
liquidation value of the property was $31.0 million at December 31, 2017.
2091 Coney Island Avenue – property sale – On February 14, 2018, the Company sold to an independent third party the 2091 Coney Island
Avenue office property in Brooklyn, New York for a gross sales price of $3.8 million. The property, together with the retail property located at 20672073 Coney Island Avenue make up 1100 Kings Highway. The property was part of the collateral for the $20.2 million mortgage note payable on
1100 Kings Highway. In connection with the sale and as required in the mortgage loan agreement, the Company paid down a portion of the
outstanding mortgage loan of $4.4 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property was $3.8 million at December 31, 2017.
306 East 61st Street – property sale – On February 16, 2018, the Company sold to an independent third party the 306 East 61st Street office
property in Manhattan, New York for a gross sales price of $47.0 million. The property was encumbered by a $19.0 million mortgage loan which was
satisfied in full at closing. After satisfaction of debt, pro-rations and closing costs, the Company received net proceeds of approximately
$26.5 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property was $47.0 million at December 31, 2017.
350 Bleecker Street and 367-387 Bleecker Street – property sale – On April 19, 2018, the Company sold to an independent third party the
350 Bleecker Street and 367-387 Bleecker Street properties located in Manhattan, New York for a gross sales price of $31.5 million. The properties
were part of the collateral for the Company’s $760.0 million POL Loans. In connection with the sale, the Company was required to pay down the
POL Loans by $21.1 million. After satisfaction of debt, pro-rations and closing costs, the Company received net proceeds of approximately
$8.8 million. The estimated liquidation value of the properties was $31.5 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
416 Washington Street – property sale – On April 19, 2018, the Company sold to an independent third party the 416 Washington Street retail
property in Manhattan, New York for a gross sales price of $11.2 million. The property was part of the collateral for the Company’s $760.0 million
POL Loans. The Company was required to pay down $5.5 million under the POL Loans upon the sale of the property. After satisfaction of debt,
pro-rations and closing costs, the Company received net proceeds of approximately $5.1 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property
was $11.2 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
2067 – 2073 Coney Island Avenue – property sale – On May 1, 2018, the Company sold to an independent third party the 2067-2073 Coney
Island Avenue retail property in Brooklyn, New York for a gross sales price of $30.5 million. The property was part of the collateral for the
$20.2 million mortgage note payable on 1100 Kings Highway. After satisfaction of debt, pro-rations and closing costs, the Company received net
proceeds of approximately $13.7 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property was $30.5 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
Centurion Parking Garage – property sale – On May 1, 2018, the Company sold to an independent third party the Centurion Parking
Garage property located at 33 West 56th Street, Manhattan, New York, for a gross sales price of $3.5 million. After satisfaction of pro-rations and
closing costs, the Company received net proceeds of approximately $3.3 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property was $3.5 million at
March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
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POL Loans – In April 2018, the POL Loans were fully satisfied using proceeds from the sales of 382-384 Bleecker Street, 350 Bleecker Street,
416-425 Washington Street and reserves.
Viceroy Hotel – property sale – On October 4, 2018, the Company sold to an independent third party the Viceroy Hotel property located in
Manhattan, New York for a gross sales price of $41.0 million. After satisfaction of pro-rations and closing costs, the Company received net
proceeds of approximately $39.8 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property was $41.0 million at September 30, 2018 and $50.0 million at
December 31, 2017.
Significant Tenants
The following table lists the tenants whose annualized cash rent represented greater than 10% of total annualized cash rent for the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, including annualized cash rent related to the Company’s unconsolidated joint venture:

Property Portfolio

Worldwide Plaza
Worldwide Plaza

Tenant

Cravath, Swaine & Moore, LLP
Nomura Holdings America, Inc.

September 30,
2018
2017

47%
31%

25%
16%

The termination, delinquency or non-renewal of any of the above tenants may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations.
Note 7 — Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Venture
The Company initially owned a 48.9% equity interest in Worldwide Plaza. On June 1, 2017, the Company acquired an additional 49.9% equity
interest in Worldwide Plaza on exercise of the Company’s option (the “WWP Option”) to purchase additional equity interests in Worldwide Plaza
pursuant to the Company’s rights under the joint venture agreement of Worldwide Plaza for a contract purchase price of $276.7 million, based on
the option price of the property of approximately $1.4 billion less the then outstanding debt balance of $875.0 million on the property. The
Company’s joint venture partner exercised its right to retain 1.2% of the aggregate membership interests in Worldwide Plaza. Following the exercise
of the option, the Company owned a total equity interest of 98.8% in Worldwide Plaza.
On October 18, 2017, the Company sold a 48.7% interest in Worldwide Plaza to a joint venture managed by SL Green Realty Corp. and RXR
Realty LLC based on an estimated underlying property value of $1.725 billion. In conjunction with the equity sale, there was a concurrent
$1.2 billion refinancing of the existing Worldwide Plaza debt. The Company received cash at closing of approximately $446.5 million from the sale
and excess proceeds from the financing, net of closing costs which included $108.3 million of defeasance and prepayment costs. The new debt on
Worldwide Plaza bears interest at a blended rate of approximately 3.98% per annum, requires monthly payments of interest only and matures in
November 2027. The Company has reserved $90.7 million of the proceeds in a separate account to fund future capital improvements to Worldwide
Plaza. Following the sale of its interest, the Company now holds a 50.1% interest in Worldwide Plaza. The Company has determined that this
investment is an investment in a variable interest entity (VIE). The Company has determined that it is not the primary beneficiary of this VIE since
the Company does not have the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance. The Company
accounts for this investment using the equity method of accounting.
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The lease with one of the tenants at the Worldwide Plaza property contains a right of first offer in the event that Worldwide Plaza sells 100%
of the property. The right requires Worldwide Plaza to offer the tenant the option to purchase 100% of the Worldwide Plaza property, at the price,
and on other material terms, proposed by Worldwide Plaza to third parties. If, after a 45-day period, that tenant does not accept the offer,
Worldwide Plaza may then sell the property to a third party, provided that Worldwide Plaza will be required to re-offer the property to that tenant if
it desires to sell the property for a purchase price (and other economic consideration) less than 92.5% of the initial purchase price contained in the
offer to that tenant.
The amounts reflected in the following tables are based on the financial information of Worldwide Plaza and are not presented on a
liquidation basis of accounting. Under liquidation accounting, equity investments are carried at net realizable value.
The condensed balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 for Worldwide Plaza are as follows:
September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Real estate assets, at cost
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total real estate assets, net
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

Debt
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Deficit
Total liabilities and deficit

$ 1,222,178
135,493
1,357,671
(550,429)
$
807,242

(In thousands)

$

825,426
(205,801)
619,625
35,947
151,670
807,242

$

825,310
(185,377)
639,933
15,964
161,285
817,182

$ 1,213,193
126,142
1,339,335
(522,153)
$ 817,182

The condensed statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 for Worldwide Plaza are as
follows:

(In thousands)

Rental income
Operating expenses:
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Net loss

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017

$

37,034 $

34,289 $

106,815 $

102,148

$

16,753
8,032
24,785
12,249
(18,598)
(6,349) $

14,806
7,003
21,809
12,480
(16,362)
(3,882) $

44,663
23,345
68,008
38,807
(55,205)
(16,398) $

41,165
21,490
62,655
39,493
(45,249)
(5,756)
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Note 8 — Mortgage Notes Payable
Mortgage notes payable are carried at their contractual amounts due under liquidation accounting. The Company had outstanding mortgage
notes payable of $0 at September 30, 2018 and $215.5 million at December 31, 2017. The mortgage notes payable were collateralized directly by the
real estate held by the Company identified in the table below.
The Company’s mortgage notes payable as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 consist of the following (in thousands):
Outstanding Loan Amount
September 30, 2018 December 31, 2017

Portfolio

Mortgage Loan (1)
1100 Kings Highway (2)
Design Center (2)
Mortgage notes payable, gross principal amount
(1)
(2)

$

$

—
—
—
—

$

$

176,246
20,200
19,048
215,494

Loan was repaid on April 19, 2018. All properties have been released as collateral.
Loans were paid off in connection with the sale of the property.

On August 1, 2017, the Company’s mortgage loan collateralized by the 1100 Kings Highway property was modified to extend the maturity
date to April 1, 2018 and to allow for partial release of the collateral. In April 2018, the loan maturity date was extended to May 29, 2018. The loan
was satisfied in full on May 1, 2018.
On December 20, 2016, the Company, through indirect wholly owned subsidiaries of the OP, entered into a mortgage loan (the “Mortgage
Loan”) in the aggregate amount of $500.0 million and a mezzanine loan in the aggregate amount of $260.0 million (the “Mezzanine Loan” and,
together with the Mortgage Loan, the “POL Loans”). The POL Loans were initially secured directly, in the case of the Mortgage Loan, and
indirectly in the case of the Mezzanine Loan, by properties located in New York, New York at 245-249 West 17th Street, 333 West 34th Street,
216-218 West 18th Street, 50 Varick Street, 229 West 36th Street, 122 Greenwich Street, 350 West 42nd Street, 382-384 Bleecker Street, 350 Bleecker
Street, 416-425 Washington Street, 33 West 56th Street and 120 West 57th Street (the “POL Loan Properties”). In April 2018, the POL Loans were
fully satisfied, and all the POL Loan properties sold during 2017 and 2018 have been released and are no longer collateral for the POL Loans.
Note 9 — Interest Rate Derivatives and Hedging Activities Risk
Management Objective of Using Derivatives
The Company periodically uses derivative financial instruments, including interest rate swaps, caps, collars, options, floors and other
interest rate derivative contracts, to hedge all or a portion of the interest rate risk associated with its borrowings. The principal objective of such
arrangements is to minimize the risks and costs associated with the Company’s operating and financial structure as well as to hedge specific
anticipated transactions. The Company does not utilize derivatives for speculative purposes or purposes other than interest rate risk management.
The use of derivative financial instruments carries certain risks, including the risk that the counterparties to these contractual arrangements will not
perform under the agreements. To mitigate this risk, the Company only enters into derivative financial instruments with counterparties that the
Company believes to have high credit ratings and with major financial institutions with which the Company and the Former Advisor and its
affiliates may also have had other financial relationships.
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As these instruments were not converted to cash or other considerations, derivative financial instruments were valued at $0 as of January 1,
2017 in accordance with liquidation accounting. The Company was not a party to any derivative financial instruments at September 30, 2018 or
December 31, 2017.
Note 10 — Common Stock
In March 2018, the Company effected a 1-for-10 reverse stock split pursuant to which each of ten Common Shares issued and outstanding as
of the close of market on March 15, 2018 were automatically combined into one Common Share, subject to elimination of fractional shares.
As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 the Company had 16.8 million shares of common stock outstanding, including unvested
shares of restricted common stock (“restricted shares”). On January 3, 2017, the Company issued 84,166 shares of its common stock upon
redemption of 841,660 OP units held by certain individuals who were members of the Former Advisor or its affiliates. As of September 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, there were no OP units outstanding, other than OP units held by the Company.
The Company expects to make periodic liquidating distributions out of net proceeds of asset sales, subject to satisfying its liabilities and
obligations, in lieu of regular monthly dividends. During 2017, the Company paid aggregate liquidating distributions equal to $30.70 per Common
Share. On January 26, 2018, the Company paid a cash liquidating distribution of $20.00 per Common Share. On May 18, 2018, the Company paid a
cash liquidating distribution of $4.85 per Common Share. On October 22, 2018 the Company paid a cash liquidating distribution of $3.25 per
Common Share. There can be no assurance as to the actual amount or timing of future liquidating distributions stockholders will receive.
Note 11 — Commitments and Contingencies
Future Minimum Lease Payments
At September 30, 2018, the Company’s only remaining leasehold interest was related to the Viceroy Hotel. The Company sold the Viceroy
Hotel on October 4, 2018, and its obligation under the ground lease was terminated. The Company paid $43,000 for its proportionate share of
October’s rent upon closing.
Litigation and Regulatory Matters
In the ordinary course of business, the Company may become subject to litigation, claims and regulatory matters. There are no legal or
regulatory proceedings pending or known to be contemplated against the Company from which the Company expects to incur a material loss.
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Environmental Matters
In connection with the ownership and operation of real estate, the Company may potentially be liable for costs and damages related to
environmental matters. The Company maintains environmental insurance for its properties that provides coverage for potential environmental
liabilities, subject to the policy’s coverage conditions and limitations. The Company has not been notified by any governmental authority of any
non-compliance, liability or other claim, and is not aware of any other environmental condition that it believes will have a material adverse effect on
the consolidated results of operations.
Note 12 — Related Party Transactions and Arrangements
Viceroy Hotel
Revenues from related parties at the Viceroy Hotel were $0 and $1,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively.
Revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 were $0 and $5,000, respectively. The Company did not have any receivables
from related parties as of September 30, 2018 and 2017.
Winthrop Advisor and its Affiliates
On December 19, 2016 the Company entered into an agreement (the “Advisory Agreement”) with Winthrop Advisor, pursuant to which
Winthrop Advisor served as the Company’s exclusive advisor with respect to all matters primarily related to any plan of liquidation and
dissolution of the Company and as a consultant to the Board on certain other matters during the period from January 3, 2017 through March 7,
2017 and is serving as exclusive advisor to the Company from and after March 8, 2017.
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The Company and the Winthrop Advisor entered into a second amendment to the Advisory Agreement on June 8, 2018 and a third
amendment to the Advisory Agreement on August 7, 2018 and the revised terms on the Advisory Agreement following these amendments are
described below.
The term of the Advisory Agreement will end on the earlier of the effective date of the conversion of the Company to a liquidating entity, or
the transfer of the Company’s assets to a liquidating trust (the “Liquidation Date”), or December 6, 2018, six months from the date of the second
amendment. The term of the Advisory Agreement will automatically renew for a one-month period on the expiration of the term or any renewal
term, unless terminated by a majority of the Company’s independent directors or the Winthrop Advisor, upon written notice 45 days before the
expiration of the term or any renewal term and will automatically terminate at the effective time of the dissolution of the Company in accordance
with its plan of liquidation or, if the assets of the Company are transferred to a liquidating trust (or the Company is converted into a liquidating
entity), the final disposition of the assets transferred to the liquidating trust or held by the liquidating entity, which is expected to be the LLC. The
Advisory Agreement may be terminated upon 15 days written notice by a majority of the Company’s independent directors if the Company’s chief
executive officer resigns or is otherwise unavailable to serve as the Company’s chief executive officer for any reason and the Winthrop Advisor
has not proposed a new chief executive officer acceptable to a majority of the Company’s independent directors. On July 12, 2018, the Company’s
independent directors voted unanimously to appoint John Garilli as Chief Executive Officer upon the resignation of Wendy Silverstein from the
position and accordingly did not exercise the Company’s right to terminate the Advisory Agreement;
Because the Company expects to convert to the LLC effective November 7, 2018, November 7, 2018 is expected to be the Liquidation Date,
and, accordingly, the current term of the Advisory Agreement is expected to expire on November 7, 2018. Since no notice of termination of the
Advisory Agreement has been received by Winthrop Advisor, the Advisory Agreement will automatically renew at the end of the current term for
a term ending December 7, 2018 and will thereafter continue automatically renew for additional on-month terms unless otherwise terminated as
described above.
On each of January 3, 2017 and February 1, 2017, the Company paid Winthrop Advisor a fee of $500,000 in cash as compensation for
advisory services and consulting services rendered prior to March 1, 2017.
Beginning on March 1, 2017, the Company pays Winthrop Advisor an asset management fee equal to 0.325% per annum of the cost of
assets (as defined in the Advisory Agreement) up to $3.0 billion and 0.25% per annum of the cost of assets in excess of $3.0 billion.
In determining the Cost of Assets (as defined in the Advisory Agreement) for purposes of calculating the management fee payable to the
Winthrop Advisor, the cost of the Viceroy Hotel will, for each month from and after April 2018, be deemed to equal its then-current book value.
Beginning with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2018 and ending on the Liquidation Date, the Company will pay Winthrop Advisor a
supplemental fee of $25,000 per quarter (prorated for any partial quarter) in addition to the base management fee;
Following the Liquidation Date, the Company will pay to the Winthrop Advisor a monthly fee of $100,000 and a supplemental fee of $50,000
per quarter (prorated for any partial quarter) for any period that the principal executive and financial officers of the successor entity to the
Company are required to certify the financial and other information contained in the successor entity’s quarterly and annual reports pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.
From and after March 1, 2018, the Company agreed to reimburse the Winthrop Advisor for the compensation of Wendy Silverstein as the
Company’s chief executive officer or otherwise, in such amounts as agreed to between the Winthrop Advisor and the Company, which provision
is no longer applicable following Wendy Silverstein’s resignation.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company reimbursed Winthrop Advisor $467,000 for compensation of the Chief
Executive Officer.
In connection with the adoption of liquidation accounting, the Company accrues costs it expects to incur through the end of liquidation. As
of September 30, 2018, the Company has accrued asset management fees and compensation reimbursements totaling $1.5 million payable to
Winthrop Advisor representing management’s estimate of future asset management fees to final liquidation, provided there is no assurance that
the contract will continue to be extended at the same terms, if at all. This amount is included in estimated costs in excess of estimated receipts
during liquidation.
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In connection with the payment of (i) any distributions of money or other property by the Company to its stockholders during the term of the
Current Advisory Agreement and (ii) any other amounts paid to the Company’s stockholders on account of their shares of common stock in
connection with a merger or other change in control transaction pursuant to an agreement with the Company entered into after March 8, 2017
(such distributions and payments, the “Hurdle Payments”), in excess of $110.00 per share (adjusted for the Reverse Split the “Hurdle Amount”),
when taken together with all other Hurdle Payments, the Company will pay an incentive fee to Winthrop Advisor in an amount equal to 10.0% of
such excess (the “Incentive Fee”). The Hurdle Amount will be increased on an annualized basis by an amount equal to the product of (a) the
Treasury Rate plus 200 basis points and (b) the Hurdle Amount minus all previous Hurdle Payments. Based on the current estimated undiscounted
net assets in liquidation, the Winthrop Advisor would not be entitled to receive any such incentive fee.
Effective March 2017, Winthrop Property Manager began providing property management services to those properties for which the ARG
Property Manager had been providing property management services. The Company paid to Winthrop Property Manager 1.75% of gross
revenues, inclusive of all third party property management fees, for property management services provided to the Company by the Winthrop
Property Manager or any of its affiliates. As of September 30, 2018, none of the Company’s properties are managed by the Winthrop Property
Manager.
The following table details amounts incurred by the Company to Winthrop Advisor and its affiliates in connection with the operations
related services described above for the periods presented and any amounts payable to or due from Winthrop Advisor as of the dates specified:

(In thousands)

Asset management fees
Property management fees
Reimbursements
Total related party operational fees and
reimbursements

Three Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017

Payable as of
September 30, December 31,
2018
2017

$

616
—
—

$

2,512 $
166
—

2,171
42
467

$

6,182 $
430
—

—
—
—

$

—
49
—

$

616

$

2,678 $

2,680

$

6,612 $

—

$

49

Former Advisor and its Affiliates
Prior to March 8, 2017, the Company paid to the Former Advisor an asset management fee equal to 0.50% per annum of the cost of assets, as
defined, up to $3.0 billion and 0.40% per annum of the cost of assets above $3.0 billion.
Prior to March 8, 2017, unless the Company contracted with a third party, the Company paid the ARG Property Manager a property
management fee equal to: (i) for non-hotel properties, 4.0% of gross revenues from properties managed, plus market-based leasing commissions;
and (ii) for hotel properties, a market based fee equal to a percentage of gross revenues. The Company also reimbursed the ARG Property Manager
for property-level expenses. The ARG Property Manager was permitted to subcontract the performance of its property management and leasing
services duties to third parties and pay all or a portion of its property management fee to the third parties with whom it contracted for these
services. If the Company contracted directly with third parties for such services, the Company paid them customary market fees and paid the ARG
Property Manager an oversight fee equal to 1.0% of the gross revenues of the applicable property.
The Company reimbursed the Former Advisor for costs and expenses paid or incurred prior to March 8, 2017 by the Former Advisor and its
affiliates in connection with providing services to the Company (including reasonable salaries and wages, benefits and overhead of all employees
directly involved with the performance of such services), although the Company did not reimburse the Former Advisor for personnel costs in
connection with services for which the Former Advisor received a separate fee.
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The following table details amounts incurred and paid by the Company to the Former Advisor and its affiliates in connection with the
operations related services described above for the periods presented:

(In thousands)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2017 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017
Incurred
Incurred

To the Former Advisor and affiliates:
Asset management fees
$
Transfer agent and other
professional fees
Property management fees
Total related party operational fees
and reimbursements
$

— $
—
—
— $

2,339
414
560
3,313

The Former Advisor, individual members of the Former Advisor, and employees or former employees of the Former Advisor held interests in
the OP. On January 3, 2017, the Company issued 84,166 shares of its common stock upon redemption of 841,660 OP units held by the Former
Advisor or members, employees or former employees of the Former Advisor. Following the issuance, no OP units remained outstanding other than
OP units held by the Company corresponding to shares of the Company’s common stock.
Note 13 — Economic Dependency
Under various agreements, the Company has engaged Winthrop Advisor, its affiliates and entities under common control with Winthrop
Advisor to provide certain services that are essential to the Company, including asset management services, supervision of the management and
leasing of properties owned by the Company, asset acquisition and disposition decisions, as well as other administrative responsibilities for the
Company including accounting services, transaction management and investor relations.
As a result of these relationships, the Company is dependent upon Winthrop Advisor and its affiliates. In the event that these companies
are unable to provide the Company with the respective services, the Company will be required to find alternative providers of these services.
Note 14 — Share-Based Compensation
Stock Option Plan
The Company has a stock option plan (the “Plan”) which authorizes the grant of nonqualified stock options to the Company’s independent
directors, officers, advisors, consultants and other personnel, subject to the absolute discretion of the Board and the applicable limitations of the
Plan. The exercise price for all stock options granted under the Plan will be equal to the fair market value of a share on the date of grant. Upon a
change in control, unvested options will become fully vested and any performance conditions imposed with respect to the options will be deemed
to be fully achieved. A total of 50,000 shares have been authorized and reserved for issuance under the Plan. As of September 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, no stock options were issued under the Plan.
Restricted Share Plan
The Company’s employee and director incentive restricted share plan (“RSP”) provides the Company with the ability to grant awards of
restricted shares to the Company’s directors, officers and employees (if the Company ever has employees), employees of the Former Advisor and
its affiliates, employees of entities that provide services to the Company, directors of the Former Advisor or of entities that provide services to the
Company, certain consultants to the Company and the Former Advisor and its affiliates or to entities that provide services to the Company.
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Under the RSP, the annual amount granted to the independent directors is determined by the board of directors. The maximum number of
shares of stock granted under the RSP cannot exceed 10% of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock on a fully diluted basis at any
time. Restricted shares issued to independent directors generally vest over a three-year period in increments of 33.3% per annum. Generally, such
awards provide for accelerated vesting of (i) all unvested restricted shares upon a change in control or a termination without cause and (ii) the
portion of the unvested restricted shares scheduled to vest in the year of voluntary termination or the failure to be re-elected to the board.
Restricted shares may not, in general, be sold or otherwise transferred until restrictions are removed and the shares have vested. Holders of
restricted shares receive cash dividends and other distributions (including any liquidating distributions made pursuant to the Liquidation Plan)
prior to the time that the restrictions on the restricted shares have lapsed. Any dividends payable in shares of common stock are subject to the
same restrictions as the underlying restricted shares. On October 5, 2018, the Board released all restrictions on any remaining unvested restricted
shares.
The following table displays restricted share award activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as adjusted for the reverse
stock split (see Note 1):
Number of
Restricted Shares

Unvested, December 31, 2017
Granted
Vested
Unvested, September 30, 2018

6,828
—
4,853
1,975

Weighted-Average
Issue Price

$

103.20
—
103.57
102.23

2014 Advisor Multi-Year Outperformance Agreement
On April 15, 2014 (the “Effective Date”), the Company entered into a multi-year outperformance agreement (the “OPP”) with the OP and the
Former Advisor. Under the OPP, the Former Advisor was issued 8,880,579 LTIP Units in the OP with a maximum award value on the issuance date
equal to 5.0% of the Company’s market capitalization (the “OPP Cap”). The LTIP Units were structured as profits interests in the Operating
Partnership.
Prior to the OPP Side Letter dated December 19, 2016 (“OPP Side Letter”), subject to the Former Advisor’s continued service through each
vesting date, one third of any earned LTIP Units would vest on each of the third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the Effective Date.
On April 15, 2015 and 2016, in connection with the end of the One-Year Period and Two-Year Period, 367,059 and 805,679 LTIP Units,
respectively, were earned by the Former Advisor under the terms of the OPP. Pursuant to the OPP Side Letter, these LTIP Units immediately vested
upon approval by the Compensation Committee and converted into unrestricted shares of the Company’s common stock.
Based on calculations for the Three-Year Period, the Former Advisor earned 43,685 LTIP Units under the terms of the OPP on April 15, 2017.
Pursuant to the terms of the OPP Side Letter, these LTIP units were immediately vested on April 15, 2017, were converted into unrestricted shares
of the Company’s common stock on May 9, 2017 and were issued to the Former Advisor on May 9, 2017. Following the issuance of the shares of
common stock on May 9, 2017, the remaining 7,664,156 LTIP Units issued to the Former Advisor were forfeited.
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Under the OPP, the Former Advisor’s eligibility to earn a number of LTIP units with a value equal to a portion of the OPP Cap upon the first,
second and third anniversaries of the Effective Date was based on the Company’s achievement of certain levels of total return to the Company’s
stockholders (“Total Return”), including both share price appreciation and common stock dividends, as measured against a peer group of
companies, for the three-year performance period commencing on the Effective Date (the “Three-Year Period”); each 12-month period during the
Three-Year Period (the “One-Year Period”); and the initial 24-month period of the Three-Year Period (the “Two-Year Period”).
Note 15 — Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and determined that there have not
been any events that have occurred that would require adjustments to disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, except as disclosed in
Note 1 and Note 6.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements of New York
REIT, Inc. and the notes thereto. As used herein, the terms “we,” “our” and “us” refer to New York REIT, Inc., a Maryland corporation, and, as
required by context, to New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “OP”), and to their subsidiaries. As of
March 8, 2017, we are externally managed by Winthrop REIT Advisors, LLC (the “Winthrop Advisor”). Prior to March 8, 2017, we were externally
managed by New York Recovery Advisors, LLC (the “Former Advisor”), a Delaware limited liability company. Capitalized terms used herein but
not otherwise defined have the meaning ascribed to those terms in “Part I - Financial Information” included in the notes to consolidated financial
statements and contained herein.

Forward-Looking Statements
Certain statements contained herein constitute forward-looking statements as such term is defined in Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of
performance. They involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our future results, financial condition and business may differ materially from
those expressed in these forward-looking statements. You can find many of these statements by looking for words such as “approximates,”
“believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “would,” “may” or similar expressions in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties. Many of the factors that will determine these
items are beyond our ability to control or predict. Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by the forwardlooking statements include, but are not limited to, those set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 under
“Forward Looking Statements” and “Item 1A – Risk Factors,” as well as our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. For these
statements, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. We expressly disclaim any responsibility to update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise. Accordingly, investors should use caution in relying on forward-looking statements, which are based on information, judgments and
estimates at the time they are made, to anticipate future results or trends.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations include a discussion of our unaudited
consolidated interim financial statements and footnotes thereto. These unaudited interim financial statements are prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America which requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
In March 2018 we effected a 1-for-10 reverse stock split, which we refer to as the Reverse Split, of its common shares of beneficial interest,
which we refer to as common shares, pursuant to which each of ten shares of its common shares issued and outstanding as of the close of the
market on March 15, 2018 were automatically combined into one common share, subject to the elimination of fractional shares. All common shares
and per common share data included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes
thereto have been adjusted to reflect this Reverse Split.
Overview
On August 22, 2016 our Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved a plan of liquidation to sell in an orderly manner all or substantially all of
our assets and the assets of the OP (the “Liquidation Plan”), subject to stockholder approval. The Liquidation Plan was approved at a special
meeting of stockholders on January 3, 2017.
The Liquidation Plan provides for an orderly sale of our assets, payment of our liabilities and other obligations and the winding down of
operations and the dissolution of the Company. We are no longer permitted to make any new investments except to make protective acquisitions
on advances with respect to our existing assets. We are permitted to satisfy any existing contractual obligations and pay for required tenant
improvements and capital expenditures at our real estate properties, including real estate properties owned by joint ventures in which we own an
interest.
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The Liquidation Plan enabled us to sell our assets without further approval of the stockholders and provides that liquidating distributions be
made to the stockholders as determined by the Board. Pursuant to applicable REIT rules, we must complete the disposition of our assets by
January 3, 2019, two years after the date the Liquidation Plan was approved by the stockholders, in order to deduct liquidating distributions as
dividends. In order to comply with applicable tax laws, the Company will convert into a limited liability company to be known as New York REIT
Liquidating LLC (the “LLC”). The conversion to the LLC was approved by the stockholders on September 7, 2018 and is expected to become
effective on November 7, 2018 at 5:00 p.m. Eastern time.
In October 2018, we announced the withdrawal of our common stock from listing on the NYSE in connection with the conversion.
November 2, 2018 will be the last day on which shares of our common stock are traded on the NYSE and our stock transfer books will be closed as
of 4:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) on such date. At the effective time of the conversion, each outstanding share of common stock will be converted into
one unit of common membership interest in the LLC (a “unit”) and holders of shares of our common stock will automatically receive one unit
(which unit will be in book entry form) for each share of our common stock held by such stockholder. Holders of shares of our common stock
should note that unlike shares of our common stock, which, in addition to being listed on the NYSE, are freely transferable, units will not be listed
for trading and generally will not be transferable except by will intestate succession or operation of law. Therefore, the recipients of units in the
LLC will not have the ability to realize any value from these interests except from distributions made by the LLC, the timing of which will be solely
in the discretion of the LLC’s board of managers (the “Board of Managers”). On October 26, 2018, the Board designated Randolph C. Read, P. Sue
Perrotty, Craig T. Bouchard, Howard Goldberg and Joe C. McKinney, representing all the current members of the Board, to serve as the initial
members of the Board of Managers, effective when the Company’s conversion to the LLC becomes effective.
The LLC will be deemed to be the same entity as the Company with the same assets and liabilities as the Company. In addition, the charter
and bylaws of the Company will be replaced by the operating agreement of the LLC. For tax purposes, the fair value of each unit in the LLC
received by Company stockholders when the conversion becomes effective, which reflects the value of the remaining assets of the Company (net
of liabilities), will equal the average of the high and low trading prices for shares of the Company’s common stock on the last three days on which
shares are traded on the NYSE. For a detailed description of the federal income tax and investment considerations relating to the conversion and
its effects on our interests in the Company, please see the Company’s proxy statement/prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 6, 2018.
The business of the LLC will be the same as the business of the Company immediately preceding the conversion, which will, consistent with
the Liquidation Plan, consist of the continued ownership of the Company’s interest in Worldwide Plaza, the Company’s only remaining propertyrelated asset. Under its operating agreement, the business and affairs of the LLC will be managed by or under the direction of its Board of
Managers, and the LLC’s sole purpose is winding up the affairs of the LLC and liquidation of its remaining assets. The LLC will remain in existence
until the earlier of (i) the distribution of all its assets pursuant to liquidation or (ii) four years from the effective time of the conversion. The LLC’s
term may be extended to such later date as the Board of Managers determines is reasonably necessary to fulfill the purposes of the LLC.
The dissolution process and the amount and timing of distributions to stockholders involves risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, it is not
possible to predict the timing or aggregate amount which will be ultimately distributed to stockholders and no assurance can be given that the
distributions will equal or exceed the estimate of net assets presented in the Consolidated Statement of Net Assets. To date, liquidating
distributions totaling $58.80 per common share have been paid.
We expect to continue to qualify as a REIT throughout the liquidation until such time as we convert to the LLC.
Liquidation Plan
On June 1, 2017 we closed on our acquisition of the additional interest in Worldwide Plaza, which is further discussed below. As of the date
of the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, all of our assets have been sold, except for our remaining interest in Worldwide Plaza. Our
current estimates of net assets in liquidation are presented on an undiscounted basis. For purposes of liquidation accounting, our estimate of net
assets in liquidation value assumes a sale of Worldwide Plaza on September 30, 2019 based on an estimated value of $1.725 billion. These estimates
are subject to change based on the actual timing of future asset sales.
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The net assets in liquidation at September 30, 2018 are presented on an undiscounted basis and does not include Management’s estimated
future increase in value from the planned investment in the repositioning of Worldwide Plaza. Our current estimate of the liquidation value of
investments in real estate includes Worldwide Plaza at $1.725 billion which is based on a current market transaction associated with our sale of a
48.7% interest in the property on October 18, 2017 discussed in Note 7 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Our venture
partners have jointly developed and recommended a capital budget, which we have agreed to. The timing of the sale of the property, and the
ultimate value we receive from the sale, are subject to change. The capital plan includes targeted capital improvements aimed at maintaining the
institutional quality of the building and an appropriate allocation to allow for critical tenant lease renewals and rolls. In addition, capital will be
available for new management to focus on repositioning the property as a more modern asset, with a corresponding program to rebrand and likely
rename the building as well as energizing and maximizing the potential of the retail and concourse space. We have set aside approximately
$90.7 million from the refinancing proceeds to cover an estimate of our share of potential future leasing and capital costs at the property. To the
extent the full $90.7 million reserve is not used, the balance is expected to be available for distribution to stockholders. Our joint venture partners
have committed to contribute their pro-rata share of the budgeted capital investment.
Management believes that the combined team of SL Green and RXR Realty will add the necessary talent, expertise and capital, along with the
capital contributed by us, to bring this Class A asset with its blue chip tenant roster to its full potential. Management believes that implementation
of the business plan for Worldwide Plaza will take at least two years and may take up to four years given the size of the building, which is a little
over 2 million square feet, the scope and nature of the capital investment and to allow time for the critical milestones in leasing and asset
repositioning to take place.
Management believes that if these actions are successful, the estimated value of the property could increase to between $1.9 billion and
$2.2 billion, on an undiscounted basis, by November 2021, our estimated sale date of this investment. Assuming additional investment in
Worldwide Plaza of $64.0 million, plus a corresponding investment from our joint venture partners, a future value for Worldwide Plaza between
$2.0 billion and $2.2 billion would produce a residual value between $21.90 and $27.69 per share, an increase of $3.20 to $8.99 per share over our
current carrying value. In addition, we have contractual rents which generate a predictable cash flow from Worldwide Plaza which, net of expenses,
we estimate would produce $5.05 per share between October 2018 and November 2021 versus the $1.73 currently accrued based on a 12-month
hold period assumed for liquidation accounting purposes. These estimates of potential future cash flow are undiscounted. Management’s
estimate, like any estimate or projection, is subject to various assumptions and uncertainties including the joint venture’s ability to execute on the
business plan, tenants paying their rental obligations, the equity capital and financing markets and New York City market conditions generally.
There is no assurance that the joint venture will be successful in taking these various actions and that these actions will, in fact, result in the
estimated increase in the value of the property.
Current Activity
To date in 2018, we have sold 13 properties for an aggregate sales price of $479.6 million. The 2018 sales of properties are summarized below.
333 West 34th Street – property sale – On January 5, 2018, we sold to an independent third party the 333 West 34th Street office property in
Manhattan, New York for a gross sales price of $255.0 million. The property was part of the collateral for our $760.0 million POL Loans. In
connection with the sale, we paid down $110.6 million as required under the POL Loans upon the sale of the property. After satisfaction of debt,
pro-rations and closing costs, we received net proceeds of approximately $134.6 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property was
$255.0 million at December 31, 2017.
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350 West 42nd Street – property sale – On January 10, 2018, we sold to an independent third party the 350 West 42nd Street retail property
in Manhattan, New York for a gross sales price of $25.1 million. The property was part of the collateral for our $760.0 million POL Loans. In
connection with the sale, we paid down $11.3 million as required under the POL Loans upon the sale of the property. After satisfaction of debt,
pro-rations and closing costs, we received net proceeds of approximately $12.6 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property was
$25.1 million at December 31, 2017.
One Jackson Square – property sale – On February 6, 2018, we sold to an independent third party the One Jackson Square retail property in
Manhattan, New York for a gross sales price of $31.0 million. The property was part of the collateral for our $760.0 million POL Loans. In
connection with the sale, we paid down $13.0 million as required under the POL Loans upon the sale of the property. After satisfaction of debt,
pro-rations and closing costs, we received net proceeds of approximately $16.5 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property was
$31.0 million at December 31, 2017.
2091 Coney Island Avenue – property sale – On February 14, 2018, we sold to an independent third party the 2091 Coney Island Avenue
office property in Brooklyn, New York for a gross sales price of $3.8 million. The property, together with the retail property located at 2067-2073
Coney Island Avenue make up 1100 Kings Highway. The property was part of the collateral for the $20.2 million mortgage note payable on 1100
Kings Highway. In connection with the sale, we were required to pay down the outstanding mortgage loan by $4.4 million. The estimated
liquidation value of the property was $3.8 million at December 31, 2017.
306 East 61st Street – property sale – On February 16, 2018, we sold to an independent third party the 306 East 61st Street office property in
Manhattan, New York for a gross sales price of $47.0 million. The property was encumbered by a $19.0 million mortgage loan which was satisfied in
full at closing. After satisfaction of debt, pro-rations and closing costs, we received net proceeds of approximately $26.5 million. The estimated
liquidation value of the property was $47.0 million at December 31, 2017.
350 Bleecker Street and 367-387 Bleecker Street – property sale – On April 19, 2018, we sold to an independent third party the 350
Bleecker Street and 367-387 Bleecker Street properties located in Manhattan, New York for a gross sale price of $31.5 million. The properties were
part of the collateral for our $760.0 million POL Loans. In connection with the sale, we were required to pay down the POL Loans by $21.1 million.
After satisfaction of debt, pro-rations and closing costs, we received net proceeds of approximately $8.8 million. The estimated liquidation value of
the properties was $31.5 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
416 Washington Street – property sale – On April 19, 2018, we sold to an independent third party the 416 Washington Street retail property
in Manhattan, New York for a gross sales price of $11.2 million. The property was part of the collateral for our $760.0 million POL Loans. We were
required to pay down $5.5 million under the POL Loans upon the sale of the property. After satisfaction of debt, pro-rations and closing costs, we
received net proceeds of approximately $5.1 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property was $11.2 million at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017.
2067 – 2073 Coney Island Avenue – property sale – On May 1, 2018, we sold to an independent third party the 2067-2073 Coney Island
Avenue retail property in Brooklyn, New York for a gross sales price of $30.5 million. The property was part of the collateral for the $20.2 million
mortgage note payable on 1100 Kings Highway. After satisfaction of debt, pro-rations and closing costs, we received net proceeds of
approximately $13.7 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property was $30.5 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
Centurion Parking Garage – property sale – On May 1, 2018 we sold to an independent third party the Centurion Parking Garage property
located at 33 West 56th Street, Manhattan, New York, for a gross sales price of $3.5 million. After satisfaction of pro-rations and closing costs, we
received net proceeds of approximately $3.3 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property was $3.5 million at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017.
Viceroy Hotel – property sale – On October 4, 2018, we sold to an independent third party the Viceroy Hotel property located in Manhattan,
New York for gross sales price of $41.0 million. After satisfaction of pro-rations and closing costs, we received net proceeds of approximately
$39.8 million. The estimated liquidation value of the property was $41.0 million at September 30, 2018 and $50.0 million at December 31, 2017.
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POL Loans – In April 2018, the POL Loans were fully satisfied using proceeds from the sales of 382-384 Bleecker Street, 350 Bleecker Street,
416-425 Washington Street and reserves.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of September 30, 2018, we had cash and cash equivalents of $31.3 million. Our total assets and undiscounted net assets in liquidation
were $436.0 million and $427.4 million, respectively, at September 30, 2018. Our ability to meet our obligations is contingent upon the disposition of
our assets in accordance with our Liquidation Plan. We estimate that the proceeds from our Liquidation Plan will be adequate to pay our
obligations, however, we cannot provide any assurance as to the prices or net proceeds we will receive from the disposition of our assets.
Our principal demands for funds are to pay or fund operating expenses, capital expenditures and liquidating distributions to our
stockholders. We believe that cash flow from operations, along with sale proceeds, will continue to provide adequate capital to fund our operating,
administrative and other expenses incurred during liquidation. Due to the property sales, we will have reduced future operating revenue and may
need to fund future operating expenses from cash on hand. As a REIT, we must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income. Our
principal sources and uses of funds are further described below.
Principal Sources of Funds
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Our cash flows from operating activities is primarily dependent upon the occupancy level of our portfolio, the net effective rental rates
achieved on our leases, the collectability of rent, operating escalations and recoveries from our tenants and the level of operating and other costs,
including general and administrative expenses, transaction costs and other expenses associated with carrying out our Liquidation Plan.
Sales Proceeds
In connection with the Liquidation Plan, we plan to sell all of our assets.
Principal Use of Funds
Capital Expenditures
As of September 30, 2018, we owned two properties. Historically, in connection with the leasing of our properties, we entered into
agreements with our tenants to provide allowances for tenant improvements. These allowances required us to fund capital expenditures up to
amounts specified in our lease agreements. We funded $0.2 million in capital expenditures during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, which
was funded primarily from cash on hand.
With respect to Worldwide Plaza, the venture has entered into, and will continue to enter into, agreements with its tenants to provide
allowances for tenant improvements. We have set aside approximately $90.7 million from the remaining proceeds of Worldwide Plaza to cover
estimated future leasing and capital improvement costs at the property which are not funded by operating cash flow of the property. Our joint
venture partners have committed to contribute their pro-rata share of the budgeted capital investment.
Dividends
In order to avoid paying corporate level tax, we are required to distribute annually at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income, plus 100%
of our capital gains. As previously disclosed, due to the approval of the plan of liquidation by the Company’s stockholders, the Company ceased
paying regular monthly dividends. The actual amount and timing of, and record dates for, future liquidating distributions will be determined by our
Board and will depend upon the timing and proceeds of the sale of our assets and the amounts deemed necessary by our Board to pay or provide
for our liabilities and obligations and REIT requirements. Any such liquidating distributions on our common shares will be deemed a return of
capital until the applicable holder has received liquidating distributions totaling its cost basis.
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Loan Obligations
During April 2018, the $41.3 million outstanding balance on our POL Loans was repaid in full, and we no longer have any consolidated
mortgage notes payable as of September 30, 2018.
On August 1, 2017, our mortgage loan collateralized by the 1100 Kings Highway property, which consisted of 2091 Coney Island Avenue
and 2067-2073 Coney Island Avenue, was modified to extend the maturity date to April 1, 2018 and to allow for partial release of the collateral. The
2091 Coney Island Avenue property was sold on February 14, 2018 and we made a $4.4 million payment on the loan in connection with the sale.
Following the pay down, the outstanding mortgage loan balance was $15.8 million and was collateralized only by the 2067-2073 Coney Island
Avenue property. On April 1, 2018, the mortgage loan was modified to extend the maturity date to May 29, 2018. The 2067-2073 Coney Island
Avenue property was sold on May 1, 2018 and the loan was repaid in full at closing.
Cash Flows
Our level of liquidity based upon cash and cash equivalents decreased by approximately $209.7 million from $241.0 million at December 31,
2017 to $31.3 million at September 30, 2018.
The common stockholders approved the Liquidation Plan on January 3, 2017, and we adopted the liquidation basis of accounting effective
January 1, 2017. We did not make any acquisitions in new investments in 2018, and, in accordance with the Liquidation Plan, no further
acquisitions are expected.
Our primary sources of non-operating cash flow for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 include:
•

$255.0 million from the sale of our 333 West 34th Street property;

•

$47.0 million from the sale of our 306 East 61st Street property;

•

$31.5 million from the sale of our 350 Bleecker Street and 367-387 Bleecker Street properties;

•

$31.0 million from the sale of our One Jackson Square property;

•

$30.5 million from the sale of our 2067-2073 Coney Island Avenue property;

•

$25.1 million from the sale of our 350 West 42nd Street property;

•

$11.2 million from the sale of our 416 Washington Street property;

•

$3.8 million from the sale of our 2091 Coney Island Avenue property; and

•

$3.5 million from the sale of our Centurion Parking Garage property.

Our primary uses of non-operating cash flow for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 include:
•

$417.3 million for liquidating distributions to common shareholders;

•

$215.5 million for principal repayments on our mortgage notes; and

•

$16.7 million for costs associated with the sale of properties.

Our primary source of non-operating cash flow for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was $135.0 million of proceeds from the sale of
our 50 Varick Street property.
Our primary uses of non-operating cash flow for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 include:
•

$276.7 million for the acquisition of the additional interest in Worldwide Plaza, $260.0 million of which was funded from restricted cash
and the balance of which was funded from cash on hand;

•

$6.4 million for capital improvements at our properties; and

•

$78.3 million for principal repayments on our mortgage notes payable.
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Contractual Obligations
We did not have any contractual debt obligations as of September 30, 2018.
Lease Obligations
We entered into a ground lease agreement with the owner of the land parcel at the Viceroy Hotel. Upon the sale of the Viceroy Hotel on
October 4, 2018, our obligations under the ground lease terminated.
Comparability of Financial Data From Period to Period
Results of Operations
In light of the adoption of liquidation basis accounting as of January 1, 2017, the results of operations for the current period are not
comparable to the prior year period. Our remaining assets continue to perform in a manner that is relatively consistent with prior reporting periods.
We have experienced no significant changes in occupancy or rental rates, other than those discussed below in our remaining properties.
Due to the adoption of the Liquidation Plan, we are no longer reporting funds from operations, core funds from operations, adjusted funds
from operations, adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, net operating income, cash net operating income and
adjusted cash net operating income, as we no longer consider these to be key performance measures.
Occupancy and Leasing
As of September 30, 2018 our consolidated portfolio was 98.2% leased, compared to 99.9% as of September 30, 2017 as adjusted for
properties sold in 2017 and through September 30, 2018. Occupancy is inclusive of leases signed but not yet commenced. See Significant
Accounting Estimates and Critical Accounting Policies below for accounting policies relating to revenue recognition.
Changes in Net Assets in Liquidation
Net assets in liquidation increased by $6.0 million during the three months ended September 30, 2018 and, as a result of property sales and
corresponding liquidating distributions to holders of our common stock, was reduced by $405.7 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2018. During the three months ended September 30, 2018, there was a $5.1 million increase in the estimated liquidation value of the
Company’s investment in Worldwide Plaza primarily related to the extended estimated hold period and a $0.9 nillion increase due to the
remeasurement of estimated receipts primarily related to the operations of the Viceroy.
The reduction during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 is primarily due to liquidating distributions to common stockholders totaling
$417.3 million, a $9.0 million decrease in the estimated liquidation value of the Viceroy Hotel property based on the contract for sale, which was
directly offset by a release of liability of $4.2 million associated with the termination of the Viceroy Hotel management agreement and a $0.5 million
decrease due to a remeasurement of estimated receipts. The reduction in net assets was offset by a net increase of $16.9 million in the estimated
liquidation value of the Company’s investment in Worldwide Plaza primarily related to the extended estimated hold period.
Net assets in liquidation decreased by $215.4 million and $221.3 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017,
respectively. The decrease during the three months ended September 30, 2017 was primarily the result of (i) a $75.5 million net decrease in
liquidation values due to the realized sales of 245-249 West 17th Street (“Twitter”), 218 West 18th Street (“Red Bull”), 229 West 36th Street and 256
West 38th Street and a signed contract for sale for 1440 Broadway, (ii) a $63.7 million net decrease in estimated liquidation values of the remaining
portfolio, (iii) a $75.5 million decrease in the Company’s investment in Worldwide Plaza which includes estimated debt defeasance costs of
$108.3 million, net of mortgage debt premium amortization of $22.0 million and changes in estimated cash flows during the holding period of
$10.8 million, and (iv) a net decrease of $0.7 million due to other cumulative adjustments related to changes in debt costs and adjustments to
estimated holding periods.
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The decrease during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was primarily the result of (i) a $78.0 million net decrease in liquidation
values due to the realized sales of 50 Varick Street, 245-249 West 17th Street (Twitter), 218 West 18th Street (Red Bull), 229 West 36th Street and 256
West 38th Street and a signed contract for sale for 1440 Broadway, (ii) a $63.7 million net decrease in estimated liquidation values of the remaining
portfolio, (iii) a $75.5 million decrease in the Company’s investment in Worldwide Plaza which includes estimated debt defeasance costs of
$108.3 million net of mortgage debt premium amortization of $22.0 million and changes in estimated cash flows during the holding period of
$10.8 million and, (v) a net decrease of $4.1 million due to other cumulative adjustments related to changes in debt costs and adjustments to
estimated holding periods.
The net assets in liquidation at September 30, 2018, which are presented on an undiscounted basis, includes Worldwide Plaza valued at
$1.725 billion which is based on the sale of a 48.7% interest in the property as discussed in Note 7 in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements and excludes Management’s estimate of the future increase in value from the planned investment in the repositioning of Worldwide
Plaza, resulting in liquidating distributions of approximately $25.45 per Common Share, inclusive of the $3.25 per Common Share liquidating
distribution paid on October 22, 2018. This estimate of liquidating distributions includes projections of costs and expenses to be incurred during
the period required to complete the Liquidation Plan. As of October 18, 2017, Worldwide Plaza is managed by a joint venture of SL Green and RXR
Realty, two of the largest owner operators in New York City. We, along with our new joint venture partners, are committed to investing significant
additional capital into Worldwide Plaza to further improve and reposition the asset which we believe includes embedded opportunities to roll
leases to increase the value of the property. We believe that once the actions are implemented and come to fruition, the value of Worldwide Plaza
will range from $1.9 billion to $2.2 billion by our anticipated sale date of November 2021. The increase in the future market value of Worldwide Plaza
will be reflected in the Statement of Net Assets in liquidation as the specific actions related to the repositioning have been completed and such
increases in market value can be observed. Assuming a future value of $2.0 billion in November 2021, would result in an increase to our net assets
in liquidation of approximately $6.53 per share, which would result in estimated net assets in liquidation, on an undiscounted basis, of $31.98 per
share as of September 30, 2018. Management’s estimate, like any estimate or projection, is subject to various assumptions and uncertainties
including the joint venture’s ability to execute on the business plan, tenants paying their rental obligations, the equity capital and financing
markets and New York City market conditions generally. There is no assurance that the joint venture will be successful in taking these various
actions and that these actions will, in fact, result in the estimated increase in the value of the property.
Our unaudited financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are prepared on the liquidation basis of accounting and
accordingly include an estimate of the liquidation value of our assets and other estimates, including estimates of anticipated cash flow, timing of
asset sales and liquidation expenses. These estimates update estimates that we have previously provided. These estimates are based on multiple
assumptions, some of which may prove to be incorrect, and the actual amount of liquidating distributions we pay to you may be more or less than
these estimates. We cannot assure you of the actual amount or timing of liquidating distributions you will receive pursuant to the Liquidation Plan.
Election as a REIT
We elected and qualified to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), effective for our taxable year ended December 31, 2010. We believe that, commencing with such taxable year, we have been organized and
operated in a manner so that we qualify for taxation as a REIT under the Code. We intend to continue to operate in such a manner, but no
assurance can be given that we will operate in a manner so as to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT until such time as the Company converts to
the LLC on November 7, 2018. In order to continue to qualify for taxation as a REIT we must, among other things, distribute annually at least 90%
of our REIT taxable income (which does not equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP) determined without regard for the deduction
for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains, and must comply with a number of other organizational and operational requirements. If we
continue to qualify for taxation as a REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal corporate income tax on that portion of our REIT taxable
income that we distribute to our stockholders. Even if we qualify for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to certain state and local taxes on our
income and properties as well as federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed income.
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Inflation
Many of our leases contain provisions designed to mitigate the adverse impact of inflation. These provisions generally increase rental rates
during the terms of the leases either at fixed rates or indexed escalations (based on the Consumer Price Index or other measures). We may be
adversely impacted by inflation on the leases that do not contain indexed escalation provisions. In addition, our net leases require the tenant to
pay its allocable share of operating expenses, which may include common area maintenance costs, real estate taxes and insurance. This may reduce
our exposure to increases in costs and operating expenses resulting from inflation.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance-sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition,
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to
investors.
Significant Accounting Estimates and Critical Accounting Policies
Set forth below is a summary of the significant accounting estimates and critical accounting policies that management believes are important
to the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. Certain of our accounting estimates are particularly important for an understanding of
our financial position and results of operations and require the application of significant judgment by our management. As a result, these estimates
are subject to a degree of uncertainty. Prior to the adoption of the Liquidation Plan, our most sensitive estimates involved the allocation of the
purchase price of acquired properties, evaluating our real estate investments for impairment, and valuing our OP and LTIP units. Subsequent to the
adoption of the Liquidation Plan, we are required to estimate all costs and income we expect to incur and earn through the end of liquidation
including the estimated amount of cash we expect to collect on the disposal of our assets and the estimated costs to dispose of our assets.
Revenue Recognition
Under liquidation accounting, we have accrued all income that we expect to earn through the end of liquidation to the extent we have a
reasonable basis for estimation. These amounts are classified in liability for estimated costs in excess of estimated receipts during liquidation on
the Consolidated Statement of Net Assets.
In accordance with liquidation accounting, as of January 1, 2017, tenant and other receivables were adjusted to their net realizable values.
We continually review tenant and other receivables to determine collectability. Any changes in the collectability of the receivables is reflected in
the net realizable value of the receivable.
We own certain properties with leases that include provisions for the tenant to pay contingent rental income based on a percent of the
tenant’s sales upon the achievement of certain sales thresholds or other targets which may be monthly, quarterly or annual targets. Contingent
rental income is not contemplated under liquidation accounting unless we have a reasonable basis to estimate future receipts.
Investments in Real Estate
As of January 1, 2017, the investments in real estate were adjusted to their estimated net realizable value, or liquidation value, to reflect the
change to the liquidation basis of accounting. The liquidation value represents the estimated amount of cash we expect to collect on the disposal
of our assets as we carry out our Liquidation Plan. The liquidation value of our investments in real estate are presented on an undiscounted basis.
Estimated costs to dispose of these assets are presented separately from the related assets. Subsequent to January 1, 2017, all changes in the
estimated liquidation value of the investments in real estate are reflected as a change in our undiscounted net assets in liquidation.
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The liquidation value of real estate investments was determined by considering projected operating cash flows, sales of comparable assets, if
any, and replacement costs among other measures. The methods used to estimate the fair value of real estate investments include the discounted
cash flow method, sales approach and/or third party information such as appraisals, sale offers or binding purchase agreements to the extent
available.
Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Venture
We account for our investment in unconsolidated joint venture under the equity method of accounting because we exercise significant
influence over, but do not control the entity and are not considered to be the primary beneficiary. Under liquidation accounting, the investment in
unconsolidated joint venture is recorded at its net realizable value. We evaluate the net realizable value of our unconsolidated joint venture at each
reporting period. Any changes in net realizable value will be reflected as a change in our net assets in liquidation. The liquidation value of our
remaining investment in Worldwide Plaza as of September 30, 2018 is based on the value of the property as a result of the sale of our 48.7% interest
in Worldwide Plaza.
Derivative Instruments
We used derivative financial instruments to hedge the interest rate risk associated with a portion of our borrowings. The principal objective
of such agreements is to minimize the risks and costs associated with our operating and financial structure as well as to hedge specific anticipated
transactions. As of September 30, 2018, we did not hold any derivative instruments.
Recent Accounting Pronouncement
There are no new accounting pronouncements that are applicable or relevant to the Company under the liquidation basis of accounting.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
As of September 30, 2018, we did not have any contractual debt obligations.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed
with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO),
as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
As of September 30, 2018, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the
CEO and CFO, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based on that evaluation, our management, including the CEO and CFO, concluded that our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2018.
Other Matters
There have been no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the most recent quarter that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II — OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
The information related to litigation and regulatory matters contained in Note 11 — Commitments and Contingencies of our notes to the
consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q is incorporated by reference into this Item 1. Except as set forth
therein, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we are not a party to, and none of our properties are subject to,
any material pending legal proceedings.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
There have been no material changes to the risk factors previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2017.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
Not applicable.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure.
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information.
None.
Item 6. Exhibits.
The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index are included, or incorporated by reference, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
The following exhibits are included, or incorporated by reference, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2018 (and are numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).
Exhibit No.

Description

10.1*

Amendment No. 3 to Advisory Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2018, among New York REIT, Inc., New York Recovery
Operating Partnership, L.P., and Winthrop REIT Advisors LLC.

31.1*

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Securities Exchange
Act Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32*

Written statements of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101*

XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language). The following materials from New York REIT, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the three months ended September 30, 2018, formatted in XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Net Assets,
(ii) the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets and (iii) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

*

Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
NEW YORK REIT, INC.
By:

/s/ John Garilli
John Garilli
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

By:

/s/ John Garilli
John Garilli
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)

Date: October 30, 2018
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Exhibit 10.1
AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO ADVISORY AGREEMENT
This AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO ADVISORY AGREEMENT is made as of August 7, 2018 by and among New York REIT, Inc., a Maryland
corporation (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”), New York Recovery Operating Partnership, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the
“Operating Partnership”), and Winthrop REIT Advisors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Service Provider”).

RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Company, the Operating Partnership and the Service Provider entered into that certain Advisory Agreement, dated as of
December 19, 2016, pursuant to which the Company and the Operating Partnership appointed Service Provider to (i) serve during the Interim Period
as their exclusive advisor with respect to the POL Matters and provide those services set forth in section 3(a) thereof, and (ii) serve as their
advisor from and after the Transition Date, to perform the Services set forth therein in each case on the terms and subject to the conditions set
forth in the Advisory Agreement and subject to the supervision of the Board (as amended by that certain Amendment No. 1 to Advisory
Agreement, made as of February 28, 2018, and by that certain Amendment No. 2 to Advisory Agreement, made as of June 6, 2018, the “Advisory
Agreement”);
WHEREAS, the Company intends to either transfer its assets to a liquidating trust or covert into a liquidating entity (the “Conversion”); and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 23 of the Advisory Agreement, the Company, the Operating Partnership and the Service Provider desire to
make certain amendments to the Advisory Agreement;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises made herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:
1.

Capitalized Terms. Capitalized terms used herein but not specifically defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in
the Advisory Agreement.

2.

Pre-Conversion Fees. Beginning with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2018 and ending on the day immediately prior to the
Conversion, the Company shall pay to Service Provider a supplemental quarterly asset management fee of $25,000 (prorated for any
partial quarter) as compensation for Services rendered by Service Provider and its Affiliates in connection with the management of the
Company’s Assets during such period (such fee, the “Pre-Conversion Interim Fee”). The Interim Fee shall be in addition to the Asset

Management Fee paid pursuant to Section 10(a) of the Advisory Agreement.
3.

Post-Conversion Fees. From the Conversion until the termination of the Advisory Agreement, the Company shall not pay the
Pre-Conversion Interim Fee or the Asset Management Fee to Service Provider and shall instead pay to Service Provider (a) a

monthly fee equal to $100,000 (prorated for any partial month) (the “Post-Conversion Fee”) and (b) a supplemental quarterly fee of
$50,000 (prorated for any partial quarter) (the “Post-Conversion Interim Fee”) as compensation for Services rendered by Service
Provider and its Affiliates in connection with the management of the Company’s Assets during such period, including submission of
certifications pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by the principal executive and financial officers of the
liquidating entity; provided that if the liquidating entity is no longer required to submit certifications by its principal executive and
financial officers pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, then the Company shall no longer pay, and Service
Provided shall no longer be entitled to receive, the Post-Conversion Interim Fee. Notwithstanding anything in the Advisory Agreement
to the contrary (including Sections 10(a), 10(b) and 10(d) of the Advisory Agreement, Section 3 of Amendment No. 2 to Advisory
Agreement, made as of June 6, 2018 and Section 2 of this Amendment No. 3), no fee or payment other than the Post-Conversion Fee
and the Post-Conversion Interim Fee shall be paid to Service Provider or any of its Affiliates by the Company or the Operating
Partnership following the Conversion.
4.

Effect of the Agreement. Except as modified by this Amendment No. 3, all of the terms of the Advisory Agreement are hereby ratified
and confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect. This Amendment No. 3 shall be construed as one with the Advisory Agreement,
and the Advisory Agreement shall, where context requires, be read and construed so as to incorporate this Amendment No. 3.

5.

General Provisions. The terms and provisions of Sections 22 through 30 (inclusive) of the Advisory Agreement are hereby
incorporated by reference as if set forth herein in their entirety and shall apply mutatis mutandis to this Amendment No. 3.

[Signature Page Follows]
2

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment No. 3 as of the date first written above.
NEW YORK REIT, INC.
By: /s/ Randolph C. Read
Name: Randolph C. Read
Title: Chairman

NEW YORK RECOVERY OPERATING
PARTNERSHIP, L.P.
By: New York REIT, Inc., its general partner
By: /s/ Randolph C. Read
Name: Randolph C. Read
Title: Chairman

WINTHROP REIT ADVISORS LLC
By: /s/ Michael L. Ashner
Name: Michael L. Ashner
Title: Chairman

[Signature Page to Amendment No. 3 to Agreement]
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED
I, John Garilli, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of New York REIT, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. As certifying officer I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. As certifying officer I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated this 30th day of October, 2018

/s/ John Garilli
John Garilli
Chief Executive Officer, President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer
and Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

(Back To Top)

Section 4: EX-32 (EX-32)
Exhibit 32
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS
This Certificate is being delivered pursuant to the requirements of Section 1350 of Chapter 63 (Mail Fraud) of Title 18 (Crimes and Criminal
Procedures) of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and shall not, except to the extent
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
The undersigned, who is the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of New York REIT, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies as
follows:
The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company which accompanies this Certificate, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)
or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and all information contained in this quarterly report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated this 30th day of October, 2018
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/s/ John Garilli
John Garilli
Chief Executive Officer, President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer
and Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

